## **RECEIVED**

# WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAL **9-28-2017**DISTRICT 3

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

In the matter of the grandparental visitation of A.A.L.: In re the Paternity of A.A.L.:

CACIE M. MICHELS,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v. Appeal No.: 17-AP-1142

Circuit Court Case No.: 10-FA-206

KEATON L. LYONS,

Respondent-Appellant,

JILL R. KELSEY,

Petitioner-Respondent.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Chippewa County the Honorable James M. Isaacson, Presiding

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, CACIE M. MICHELS AND KEATON L. LYONS

WELD RILEY, S.C. Ryan J. Steffes, State Bar No. 1049698 3624 Oakwood Hills Parkway PO Box 1030 Eau Claire, WI 54702-1030 (715) 839-7786; (715) 839-8609 Fax

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- I. Did the visitation order entered by the circuit court pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 767.43(3) violate the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution?
- II. If not, did the circuit court nevertheless erroneously exercise its discretion by granting grandparent visitation rights?

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This is a important case in that it involves the casual disregard of a fundamental liberty interest. It presents an opportunity for Wisconsin to do what many other states have already done, namely to interpret their grandparent visitation statutes in a manner consistent with parents' substantive due process rights. Given the importance of the issue, oral argument is appropriate and hereby requested. Publication is appropriate for the same reasons.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The facts are mostly undisputed. Avery L. is a 7 year-old girl. (R. 87, p. 58). Petitioner-Appellant Cacie M. Michels is Avery's mother. (R. 87, p. 58). Respondent-Appellant Keaton L. Lyons is her father. (R. 87, p. 58). Michels and Lyons were never married. (R. 87, p. 58). However, all parties agree they are fit parents, and the circuit court found them to be "good parents." (R. 88, p. 26) (A-Ap 35).

Michels and Lyons lived together with Avery until 2011, when they broke up. (R. 87, p. 58). Since that time, Michels has had primary custody of Avery. (R. 87, pp. 59-60). However, by informal agreement, Lyons has custody approximately every other weekend and on other occasions. (R. 87, p. 94). The circuit court commended Michels and Lyons for their ability to amicably share custody of Avery. (R. 87, pp. 125-26) (A-Ap 1-2).

Avery has a close relationship with her maternal grandparents because she and Michels lived with them for two and one-half years. (R. 87, p. 59). Petitioner-Respondent Jill R.

Kelsey is Avery's paternal grandmother. (R. 87, pp. 5-6). Avery never lived with Kelsey. (R. 87, pp. 58-60).

The exact nature and extent of Kelsey's contacts with Avery was disputed. However, all parties agree the most significant contacts were on Wednesday nights during the summers of 2013, 2014 and 2015. (R. 87, pp. 6-8, 31). On many such Wednesday nights, Michels took Avery to a rodeo event where Avery and Kelsey rode horses together. (R. 87, pp. 6-8, 31). Avery would then often spend the night at Kelsey's home. (R. 87, pp. 53-54). Kelsey had less regular contacts with Avery the remainder of the year. (R. 87, pp. 8-9); (R. 35).

In September 2015, Avery started kindergarten. (R. 87, p. 60). Shortly thereafter, "her life started filling up with other things, friends, she has a lot of family, school, extracurricular activities." (R. 87, p. 61). Michels initially tried to maintain the same level of grandparent visitation with both her parents and with Kelsey. (R. 87, p. 61). However, she observed that doing so was exhausting Avery and having a negative effect on her relationship with Lyons, who was sacrificing some of his time

with Avery to accommodate the grandparents. (R. 87, pp. 61, 64-65, 95-96).

Ultimately, in or around November 2015, Michels and Lyons began decreasing, but did not eliminate, Avery's visitation with Kelsey. (R. 87, pp. 21, 39); (R. 35). Shortly thereafter, Michels informed Kelsey she was no longer interested in going to Disney World with her and Avery, a trip Kelsey had previously proposed and had been planning. (R. 87, pp. 20-21, 65-66). Kelsey had asked Michels to lie to Lyons regarding how the trip would be funded. (R. 87, pp. 18, 78); (R. 65, p. 20). That strained Michels' relationship with Lyons. (R. 87, pp. 19, 21, 76, 78); (R. 65, p. 20).

On December 15, 2015, Kelsey proposed instead taking Avery to Disney World with one of her male friends. (R. 87, p. 65). Michels said "absolutely not." (R. 87, p. 65). In response, Kelsey left Michels a nasty voicemail in which she called her "selfish" and threatened to sue her and get court-ordered custody of Avery. (R. 87, p. 66); (R. 62).

Kelsey followed through with her threat on January 23, 2016 when she intervened in this 2010 paternity action. (R. 18).

She petitioned for visitation rights under Wis. Stat. § 767.43(3). (R. 18). That provision provides a court may grant reasonable visitation rights to a grandparent in a case like this one if:

- 1. The grandparent has maintained a relationship with the child or has attempted to maintain a relationship with the child but has been prevented from doing so by a parent who has legal custody of the child.;
- 2. The grandparent is not likely to act in a manner that is contrary to decisions that are made by a parent who has legal custody of the child and that are related to the child's physical, emotional, educational or spiritual welfare; and
- 3. The visitation is in the best interests of the child. Wis. Stat. § 767.43(3).

A court trial was held on January 27, 2017. (R. 87). Kelsey sought extensive visitation rights, including a 7-day period each summer, something she had never previously had and something Michels and Lyons strongly opposed. (R. 38); (R. 87, pp. 67, 95-96).

At trial, Michels and Lyons both unequivocally testified that any court-ordered visitation with Kelsey, much less any extended visitation with Kelsey, was <u>not</u> in Avery's best interests. (R. 87, pp. 67, 95-96). They noted that the strain on Avery's schedule was what caused them to decrease grandparent

visitation in the first place. (R. 87, pp. 61, 64-65, 95-96). A court order requiring regular visits would only reimpose and likely increase that strain. (R. 87, pp. 61, 64-65, 95-96). As Michels put it, they had already seen how spreading Avery "between three different places" had not been good for Avery. (R. 87, p. 65).

Michels and Lyons also expressed concerns regarding Kelsey's judgment. Kelsey concedes she gave Avery "a sip" of alcohol when Avery was only 4 years-old. (R. 87, p. 54). She concedes she allowed Avery to go horseback riding without a helmet, even after Michels and Lyons insisted Avery wear a helmet. (R. 65, p. 20). She concedes she asked Michels to lie to Lyons regarding the proposed Disney World trip. (R. 65, p. 20).

Over Michels' and Lyons' objections, the circuit court granted Kelsey's petition. (R. 65, pp. 125-30) (A-Ap 1-6); (R. 44) (A-Ap 9). It ordered Michels and Lyons to cede custody of Avery to Kelsey one Sunday each month and for a 7-day period each summer, with no restriction on where Kelsey could take Avery during that 7-day period. (R. 65, pp. 125-30) (A-Ap 1-6);

(R. 44) (A-Ap 9). Michels and Lyons sought reconsideration.
(R. 64). They argued the court's order violated their constitutional right to make decisions regarding the care, custody and upbringing of their daughter. (R. 63).

The court denied the motion for reconsideration. (R. 88, pp. 14-16) (A-Ap 23-25); (R. 73) (A-Ap 37-38). Relying on <u>In</u> re the Paternity of Roger D.H., 2002 WI App 35, ¶ 19, 250 Wis. 2d 747, 641 N.W.2d 440, the court concluded it could constitutionally overrule Michels' and Lyons' visitation decision so long as: 1) it applied a presumption in their favor; and 2) nevertheless found greater visitation was in Avery's best interests. (R. 88, pp. 15-16) (A-Ap 23-25).

For the reasons set forth below, Michels and Lyons now respectfully request this court reverse the visitation order.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether a statute, as applied, violates the constitutional right to substantive due process is a question of law this court reviews de novo. In re the Termination of Parental Rights to Zachary B., 2004 WI 48, ¶ 16, 271 Wis.2d 51, 678 N.W.2d 831. If the court finds the visitation order does not violate Michels' and Lyons' constitutional rights, then the visitation order is reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. In the Matter of Grandparental Visitation of David R., 2007 WI App 50, ¶ 7, 300 Wis.2d 532, 731 N.W.2d 347.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The Visitation Order Violates the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution.<sup>1</sup>

Substantive due process rights are rooted in the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 1 of the Wisconsin Constitution. State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 17, 323 Wis.2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63. Substantive due process addresses "what government may do to people under the guise of the law." Id. It is afforded only to fundamental liberty interests such as marriage, child-rearing, procreation and bodily integrity. Zachary B., 271 Wis.2d 51 at ¶ 19. A parent who has a substantial relationship with his or her child has a fundamental liberty interest in parenting the child. Id. at ¶ 23. Any statute that infringes on a fundamental liberty interest is subject to strict scrutiny review. Id. at ¶ 24; Kenosha Cnty. DHS v. Jodie W., 2006 WI 93, ¶41, 293 Wis.2d 530, 716 N.W.2d 845. Under strict scrutiny review, a statute must be narrowly tailored to advance a compelling state interest that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Pursuant to <u>Kurtz v. City of Waukesha</u>, 91 Wis. 2d 103, 117, 280 N.W.2d 757 (1979), the Attorney General has been provided notice that the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 767.43(3), as applied in this case, is being challenged in this action. (A-Ap 39-40).

justifies interference with the fundamental liberty interest.

Zachary B., 271 Wis.2d 51 at ¶ 25.

Section 767.43(3), as applied by the circuit court in this case, does not survive strict scrutiny review and must be found unconstitutional. The constitutional analysis should begin with the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Troxel v. Granville</u>, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 2054 (2000). The case involved the children of unmarried parents. <u>Id.</u> at 60. The paternal grandparents had regular contact with the children until their son died. <u>Id.</u> at 60-61. Thereafter, the children's mother informed the grandparents their visitation would be drastically reduced to "one short visit per month." Id.

The grandparents filed suit under Washington's visitation statute. The trial court found it would be in the children's best interest to spend more time with the grandparents. <u>Id.</u> at 61. It ordered visitation one weekend per month and for one week during the summer. <u>Id.</u> After the Washington Supreme Court found the visitation order to be a violation of the parents' substantive due process rights, the grandparents sought review in the United States Supreme Court.

The court accepted review. In a plurality decision, it noted: "(T)he interest of parents in the care, custody, and control of their children is perhaps the oldest fundamental liberty interest recognized by this Court." <u>Id.</u> at 65. And:

"(I)t cannot now be doubted that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the fundamental right of parents to make decisions concerning the care, custody, and control of their children." Id. at 66.

"(S)o long as a parent adequately cares for his or her children (i.e., is fit), there will normally be no reason for the State to inject itself into the private realm of the family to further question the ability of that parent to make the best decisions concerning the rearing of that parent's children." <u>Id.</u> at 68-69 (Parenthetical in Original).

"In an ideal world, parents might always seek to cultivate the bonds between grandparents and their grandchildren. Needless to say, however, our world is far from perfect, and in it the decision whether such an intergenerational relationship would be beneficial in any specific case is for the parent to make in the first instance." <u>Id.</u> at 70.

#### The court ultimately concluded:

"(T)he Due Process Clause does not permit a State to infringe on the fundamental right of parents to make child rearing decisions simply because a state judge believes a 'better' decision could be made." <u>Id.</u> at 72-73.

Yet, that is *exactly* what happened in this case. It is worth briefly noting the factual similarities and differences between this case and <u>Troxel</u>. As in <u>Troxel</u>, this case involves unmarried parents. As in <u>Troxel</u>, Kelsey complained that her visitation opportunities had been significantly reduced but not

eliminated all together. (R. 87, p. 39). (Kelsey complaining "I was turned down more than I was allowed when I would ask (to spend time with Avery)"); (R. 87, p. 36) (Kelsey admitting it is "very possible" Avery stayed at her house on January 21, 2016 and was scheduled to do the same on February 11, 2016); (R. 87, pp. 87-97) (Michels and Lyons provided Kelsey with schedules of extracurricular activities she could attend to see Avery); (R. 65, p. 21) (Kelsey admitting she was never "shut down" from seeing Avery). As in Troxel, the circuit court granted Kelsey's petition and ordered monthly visitation and visitation for one week each summer. (R. 44) (A-Ap 9). Unlike Troxel, both of Avery's parents are alive and **both** objected to Kelsey's petition. (R. 87, pp. 67, 95-96). Unlike Troxel, Lyons and Michels explained the strain court-ordered visitation would put on Avery and put forth specific concerns regarding Kelsey's judgment.

So how did the circuit court believe it had the power to second-guess the decision of two fit parents regarding the care, custody and upbringing of their child? It relied entirely on Roger D.H.. (R. 88, p. 15) (A-Ap 24). That reliance is

misplaced. Understanding why it is misplaced requires understanding the aftermath of <u>Troxel</u>.

At the time <u>Troxel</u> was decided, all fifty states had some form of visitation statute. <u>Troxel</u>, 530 U.S. at 99 (J. Kennedy, dissenting). Forty-nine of the fifty statutes imposed some variation of a best-interests-of-the-child standard. <u>Id. Troxel</u> made clear that, at least in some circumstances, applying only that minimal standard violates parents' substantive due process rights. <u>Id.</u> at 72-73. Unfortunately, the court did not say precisely what is required to protect those substantive due process rights. In fact, it explicitly dodged that all-important question:

"(W)e do not consider the primary constitutional question passed on by the Washington Supreme Court – whether the Due Process Clause requires all nonparental visitation statutes to include a showing of harm or potential harm to the child as a condition precedent to granting visitation." Id. at 73.

As a result, state courts were left to figure out how to apply their visitation statutes in a constitutional manner. It has been a slow process in which nearly every state to have considered the issue has chosen one of two approaches:

1) imposing a "harm" standard on visitation statutes; or 2)

imposing a "clear and convincing evidence" standard on visitation statutes.

The Washington Supreme Court, in a case decided along with <u>Troxel</u>, concluded a visitation statute is constitutional only if it is limited to cases where the court finds that not granting visitation would cause harm to a child. <u>In re the Custody of Smith</u>, 137 Wash. 2d 1, 969 P.2d 21, 30-31 (1998). In doing so, the court noted there are two recognized sources of state power to intrude on family life. First, the state may, using its police powers, protect the interests of society as a whole and children generally by doing things such as requiring children be vaccinated and by regulating child labor. <u>Id.</u> at 28. Second, the state may exercise its *parens patriae* power to protect individual children "where a child has been harmed or where there is a threat of harm to a child." Id.

#### The court then concluded:

"Both parens patriae power and police power provide the state with the authority to act to protect children lacking the guidance and protection of fit parents of their own, and although they may represent different perspectives, both contemplate harm to the child and, in practical terms, have been used nearly interchangeably in the fashioning of a threshold requirement of parental unfitness, harm or threatened harm...(T)he requirement of harm is the sole

protection that parents have against pervasive state interference in the parenting process." Id. at 28, 30.

Under the harm standard, court-ordered visitation is constitutional only where a grandparent or other third party has had a "substantial relationship" with the child and where "arbitrarily depriving the child of the relationship could cause severe psychological harm." <u>Id.</u> In other words, it is the case where a parent dies, and the surviving parent arbitrarily cuts out in-laws who had a substantial relationship with a grandchild, or the case where a third party raises a child but is later arbitrarily cut off from contact when a parent returns. Only in those sorts of cases does the state have a sufficiently compelling interest to second-guess a fit parent's decision regarding the care, custody and upbringing of his or her children. Id.

The majority of state courts to have considered the issue have come to the same conclusion as Washington and have read the harm standard into their grandparent visitation statutes (or have simply struck down the statutes as unconstitutional). In doing so, they have noted:

"We believe the (harm standard) is sounder because of the ease with which a petitioning party could otherwise intrude upon parental prerogative....(T)here is no real barrier to prevent a party, who has more time and money

than the child's parents, from petitioning the court for visitation rights. A parent who does not have the up-front out-of-pocket expense to defend against the petition may have to bow under the pressure even if the parent honestly believes it is not in the best interest of the child. (citation omitted). The prospect of competent parents potentially getting caught up in the crossfire of lawsuits by relatives and other interested parties demanding visitation is too real a threat to be tolerated in the absence of protection afforded through a stricter burden of proof. Therefore pursuant to this court's inherent supervisory powers...we determine that a nonparent petitioning for visitation pursuant to § 46b-59 must prove the requisite relationship and harm, as we have previously articulated, by clear and convincing evidence."<sup>2</sup> Roth v. Weston, 259 Conn. 202, 789 A.2d 431, 448-49 (2002).

"Because the Grandparent Visitation Statute is an incursion on a fundamental right...it is subject to strict scrutiny and must be narrowly tailored to advance a compelling state interest. Our prior jurisprudence establishes clearly that the only state interest warranting the invocation of the State's parens patriae jurisdiction to overcome the presumption in favor of a parent's decision and to force grandparent visitation over the wishes of a fit parent is the avoidance of harm to the child. When no harm threatens a child's welfare, the State lacks a sufficiently compelling justification for the infringement on the fundamental right of parents to raise their children as they see fit...Although Troxel avoided confronting that issue directly, we are satisfied that prior United States Supreme Court decisions fully support our conclusion that interference with parental autonomy will be tolerated only to avoid harm to the health or welfare of a child. Compare Yoder, 406 U.S. at 230, 92 S.Ct. at 1540-41, 32 L.Ed.2d at 33-34 (noting that interference with childrearing was not justified because Amish children would not be physically or mentally harmed from receiving an Amish education as opposed to public education (emphasis added)); Stanley, supra, 405 U.S. at 649, 92 S.Ct. at 1211, 31 L.Ed.2d at 557

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This analysis is particularly apt in this case. Kelsey's voicemail threat clearly implies that because she has money and a lawyer she will get whatever visitation she wants and Michels will regret ever having said "no" to her. (R. 87, p. 66); (R. 62). Unfortunately, that has mostly proven true to this point. (R. 44) (A-Ap 9).

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