# **RECEIVED**

## 08-10-2018

# CLERK OF SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

In the matter of the grandparental visitation of A.A.L.: In re the Paternity of A.A.L.:

CACIE M. MICHELS,

Appeal No.: 17-AP-1142

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

KEATON L. LYONS,

Respondent-Appellant,

JILL R. KELSEY,

Petitioner-Respondent.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Chippewa County The Honorable James M. Isaacson, Presiding

#### BRIEF OF PETITIONER-RESPONDENT JILL R. KELSEY

#### STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLP

Jeffrey A. Mandell 222 West Washington Avenue,

State Bar No. 1100406 Suite 900 Eileen M. Kelley P.O. Box 1784

State Bar No. 1085017 Madison, Wisconsin 53701-1784

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Court should confirm the well-settled law that the presumption a parent's decision regarding grandparent visitation is in the best interests of the child can be rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence. That should end this matter, as the visitation order meets that standard and was a lawful, proper exercise of the circuit court's discretion. However, in the event this Court overturns precedent and changes the applicable legal standard, it should remand for further circuit court proceedings under that new standard.

Cacie and Keaton argue that the circuit court's actions—which followed Wisconsin law governing presumptions—violated their constitutional rights. As a threshold matter, this argument was forfeited below, when Cacie and Keaton failed to object to the circuit court's application of the legal standard they now challenge. If the Court reaches the merits, it should rule that the question certified by the court of appeals regarding the appropriate standard of review has been definitively answered and that the standard is neither unclear nor unconstitutional. Disagreements with that standard are policy questions properly answered by the legislature. To the extent that this Court wishes to address Cacie and Keaton's further constitutional arguments, those arguments too, are unavailing and should be rejected.

### I. Cacie And Keaton Forfeited TheirRight To Object To The Legal Standard Applied By The Circuit Court.

As a threshold matter, the Court should dismiss this appeal because Cacie and Keaton failed to lodge a timely objection to the legal standard used by the circuit court. "[T]he rule requiring issues to be raised first in the circuit court is 'a bedrock principle of appellate practice.'" Michael S. Heffernan, *Appellate Practice and Procedure in Wisconsin* § 3.4 (7th ed. 2016) (quoting *In re Ambac Assur. Corp.*, 2012 WI 22, ¶35, 339 Wis. 2d 48, 810 N.W.2d 450).

At trial, the circuit court clearly articulated the legal standard it understood to apply, and asked the parties to speak up if they disagreed:

THE COURT: ... I believe the standard is still best interest, and I still believe that the Supreme Court believes that the fit parents' decisions about placement is [sic] to be presumptively in the child's best interest. Am I wrong about that, anybody?

[CACIE AND KEATON'S COUNSEL]: No, Your Honor. That is spot on.

THE COURT: Mr. Smetana.

[JILL'S COUNSEL]: There is an initial presumption, Your Honor, but it's only a presumption. It is a rebuttable presumption. ...

(R.87 at 25:13-24) If Cacie and Keaton believed that the quantum of proof needed to overcome the presumption here differed from other presumptions under Wisconsin law, they needed to say so. They did not. Accordingly, they forfeited the argument that the circuit court applied the wrong standard.<sup>8</sup> *See, e.g., Schill v. Wis. Rapids Sch. Dist.*, 2010 WI 86, ¶45 n.21, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177; *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612.<sup>9</sup>

This Court has enforced forfeiture, even where the court of appeals has not. In *Bostco LLC v. Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District*, the plaintiff alleged inverse condemnation of timber pilings supporting its building. 2013 WI 78, ¶82, 350 Wis. 2d 554, 835 N.W.2d 160. On appeal, Bostco alleged for the first time that its inverse-condemnation theory included the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Nor can Cacie and Keaton argue the circuit court was unaware of the constitutional dimension of this case. At the hearing to appoint the Guardian ad Litem, the circuit court summarized the case as one that involved Cacie and Keaton's "right to parent and raise their own child." (R.86 at 3:16-18). And in her closing argument at trial, Cacie and Keaton's counsel argued that Jill's visitation petition was "interfering with [Cacie and Keaton's] rights to take care of this child and to be the parent of this child." (R.87 at 122:6-8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The constitutional dimension of this case does not require an exception to the forfeiture rule. The so-called constitutional exception involves only those rights—"including the right to the assistance of counsel, the right to refrain from self-incrimination, and the right to have a trial by jury"—"that the Framers thought indispensable to a fair trial." *Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶¶31-32 (internal quotation marks omitted).

groundwater under the building. *Id.*, ¶83. This Court held that Bostco's appeal raised "a fundamentally different argument than that which it raised and tried before the circuit court" and, on that basis, "decline[d] to address the inverse condemnation/ takings claim, notwithstanding the court of appeals' decision to reach this issue." *Id.* The same logic applies here, where Cacie and Keaton—like Bostco—attempt to obtain reversal by raising a fundamentally different argument on appeal than they made at trial. That is not permitted. *Id.* 

Indeed, there is even greater reason to dismiss this appeal, because Cacie and Keaton invited the ruling they now point to as error. By endorsing the circuit court's articulation of the controlling legal standard as "spot on" (R.87 at 25:20), Cacie and Keaton "affirmatively contributed to what [they] now claim[] was trial court error." *State v. Gove*, 148 Wis. 2d 936, 944, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989) (declining to consider merits of Gove's appeal in the interests of justice).

II. Wisconsin Law Clearly Establishes The Standard Of Proof Required To Overcome The Presumption That A Parental Visitation Decision Reflects The Child's Best Interest.

Should the Court choose not to dismiss this case based on forfeiture, it should hold that Wisconsin law already clearly establishes the applicable standard of proof. Cacie and Keaton correctly assert that, when a grandparent seeks to rebut the presumption in favor of a parental visitation decision, Wisconsin precedent applies a preponderance-of-the-evidence standard, in full accord with the Wisconsin Rules of Evidence. But Cacie and Keaton err when they attack that precedent on constitutional grounds. The presumption that has been imposed by both the court of appeals and this Court in prior cases provides greater protection to parents than anticipated by the Supreme Court of the United States or required by due process. The applicable principles of Wisconsin law are neither unclear nor unconstitutional.

# A. This Court has affirmed that *Roger D.H.* "appropriately addressed and resolved" the presumption prescribed in *Troxel*.

In 2002, the court of appeals rejected a constitutional challenge to Wisconsin's grandparent-visitation statute. *See In re the Paternity of Roger D.H.*, 2002 WI App 35, ¶¶13-20, 250 Wis. 2d 747, 641 N.W.2d 440.<sup>10</sup> The court held that, in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Roger D.H. addresses Wis. Stat. § 767.245(3), subsequently renumbered without substantive alteration as section 767.43(3). See Meister, 2016 WI 22, ¶17 n.9.

In addition to actions under chapter 767, grandparents and other parties may also petition for visitation subsequent to the adoption of a minor child (Wis. Stat. § 48.925), following the death of a parent (Wis.

considering petitions under the grandparent-visitation statute, "circuit courts must apply the presumption that a fit parent's decision regarding grandparent visitation is in the best interests of the child." *Id.*, ¶19. "At the same time," the court held, "this is only a presumption and the circuit court is still obligated to make its own assessment of the best interest of the child." *Id.* 

The *Roger D.H.* court read this presumption into the grandparent-visitation statute to satisfy due-process concerns articulated by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57 (2000). That case, challenging the State of Washington's grandparent-visitation statute, was largely inconclusive and yielded an array of separate opinions. While six Justices affirmed the judgment reversing the visitation order in that case, the Court was unable to assemble a majority in support of any rule. For the plurality opinion, the "problem" was "not that the Washington Superior Court intervened, but that when it did so, it gave no special weight at all to [the parent's] determination of her daughters' best interests." *Id.* at 69. Essentially, the Washington statute, as

Stat. § 54.56), and pursuant to a court's general equitable authority to protect a child's best interest. *See In re Custody of H.S.H.-K.*, 193 Wis. 2d 649, 691, 533 N.W.2d 419 (1995).

applied by the trial court, eliminated the parents from the decision-making process with regard to visitation. In the plurality's view, "if a fit parent's decision of the kind at issue here becomes subject to judicial review, the court must accord at least some special weight to the parent's own determination." *Id.* at 70.

Roger D.H. applied the Troxel plurality's teachings. It explained that "[w]hat the Due Process Clause does not tolerate is a court giving no 'special weight' to a fit parent's determination, but instead basing its decision on 'mere disagreement' with the parent." 2002 WI App 35, ¶19 (quoting Troxel, 530 U.S. at 68-69). By imposing a presumption in favor of the parental decision, Roger D.H. constrained how circuit courts apply the grandparent-visitation statute. See id. The case's guidance ensured that Wisconsin law avoids the pitfalls identified in *Troxel*. Indeed, in light of *Roger D.H.*, Wisconsin law is the opposite of the Washington law rejected in *Troxel*, which imposed upon "the fit custodial parent[] the burden of disproving that visitation would be in the best interest of her daughters." 530 U.S. at 69 (emphasis in original).

Roger D.H.'s guidance has worked in practice. As one case explains:

Pursuant to *Troxel* and *Roger D.H.*, the court accords special weight by applying a rebuttable presumption that the fit parent's decision regarding grandparent visitation is in the best interest of the child. *In other words, ... the rebuttable presumption is the legal means of giving the parent's decision special weight.* Thus, the court is to tip the scales in the parent's favor by making that parent's offer of visitation the starting point for the analysis and presuming it is in the child's best interests. It is up to the party advocating for nonparental visitation to rebut the presumption by presenting evidence that the offer is not in the child's best interests. The court is then to make its own assessment of the best interests of the child.

In re Nicholas L., 2007 WI App 37, ¶12, 299 Wis. 2d 768, 731 N.W.2d 288 (emphasis added; internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Subsequent decisions indicate no confusion over this guidance. See, e.g., In re A.M.K., 2013 WI App 128, ¶¶17-18, 351 Wis. 2d 223, 838 N.W.2d 865 (unpublished) (citing Troxel, Roger D.H., and Nicholas L. (which it refers to as Martin L.)).

Wisconsin's application of *Troxel* reached this Court in 2016. Though the issue arose under a broader visitation provision, Wis. Stat. § 767.43(1), this Court expressly affirmed the *Roger D.H.* decision. *Meister*, 2016 WI 22, ¶40 ("We conclude that the court of appeals appropriately addressed and resolved this contention [that *Troxel* renders the visitation statute unconstitutional] in *Roger D.H.*"); *see also id.*, ¶6

("[W]e conclude that the legislature's decision to allow courts to grant visitation rights to grandparents ... when visitation is in the best interest of the child does not unconstitutionally infringe on parents' constitutional rights because any best interest determination must give special weight to a fit parent's decisions regarding the child's best interest.").<sup>11</sup>

Cacie and Keaton dismiss *Meister*'s constitutional analysis as "quite limited" (Br. at 25), but they fail to substantiate that characterization. The parties to that case addressed this issue in briefing and oral argument, *see Meister*, 2016 WI 22, ¶40, and this Court explored constitutionality in a full section of the opinion—four pages of the Wis. 2d reporter, *see id.*, ¶¶39-47. There is no basis to suggest that this Court's decision was ill-considered or ill-informed.

# B. Settled Wisconsin law provides for uniform treatment of presumptions, including the one imposed by *Roger D.H.* and *Meister*.

Contrary to Cacie and Keaton's argument, the presumption imposed by *Roger D.H.* and *Meister* is in accord

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The lead opinion, written by Justice Prosser, was joined by Chief Justice Roggensack and Justice A.W. Bradley. Justice Ziegler, joined by Justice Gableman, also endorsed *Roger D.H.* 2016 WI 22, ¶80 (Zieger, J., concurring) (joining all but ¶23 of the lead opinion). Justice R.W. Bradley did not participate. *Id.*, ¶49. Justice Abrahamson wrote separately without addressing the *Roger D.H.* decision. *Id.*, ¶¶50-79.

with well-settled Wisconsin law on presumptions, as set forth in the Wisconsin Rules of Evidence. The absence from the decisions in *Roger D.H.* and *Meister* of any discussion about the quantum of proof required to rebut the presumption (adopted in *Roger D.H.* and affirmed in *Meister*) neither constitutes an oversight nor creates any ambiguity.

Rule of Evidence 903.01 governs presumptions. It provides:

Except as provided by statute, a presumption recognized at common law or created by statute, including statutory provisions that certain basic facts are prima facie evidence of other facts, imposes on the party relying on the presumption the burden of proving the basic facts, but once the basic facts are found to exist the presumption imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of proving that the nonexistence of the presumed fact is more probable than its existence.

Wis. Stat. § 903.01. It establishes a default principle applicable in any instance where a civil statute does not expressly establish a different standard. *See id.*; *accord Judicial Council Committee's Note*—1973, 59 Wis. 2d R41, R46-R47. Because the grandparent-visitation statute "is silent with respect to the effect of the presumption on the opposing party ... and because [visitation] is civil in nature, the presumption is governed by sec. 903.01, Stats." *In re Interest of Kyle S.-G.*, 194 Wis. 2d 365, 373, 533 N.W.2d 794 (1995) (internal citation omitted).

By its plain text, section 903.01 provides that a presumption allows proof of a basic fact to suffice for the establishment of a presumed fact, unless the opposing party proves, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the presumed fact is more likely than not untrue. See Kruse v. Horlamus *Indus.*, *Inc.*, 130 Wis. 2d 357, 365-66, 387 N.W.2d 64 (1986); see also Judicial Council Committee's Note—1973, 59 Wis. 2d at R50; Wis. JI-Civil 352; Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Evidence (Wisconsin Practice Series vol. 7) § 301.2 (4th ed. 2017). This Court has noted that section 903.01 implicitly imposes "a uniform quantum of proof for every presumption." Kruse, 130 Wis. 2d at 366 (citing Judicial Council Committee's Note—1973, 59 Wis. 2d at R46). 12 That uniform standard "is equivalent to 'the greater weight of the credible evidence' required by the ordinary burden of proof." *Id.* <sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Accord Judicial Council Committee's Note—1973, 59 Wis. 2d at R44 ("There seems to be no basis for the [sic] perpetuating a distinction between presumptions. Elimination of the distinction may serve to eliminate confusion in the applicable law.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> To be sure, the uniform burden of proof is not without exception. Section 903.01's opening clause excepts those presumptions to which statutes expressly apply a higher burden of proof. Wis. Stat. § 903.01. This Court has echoed section 903.01, applying the uniform standard to "[a]ll presumptions at common law and all statutory presumptions which do not express a quantum of proof." *Kruse*, 130 Wis. 2d at 366 (citing *Judicial Council Committee's Note*—1973, 59 Wis. 2d at R46). Here, the exception does not apply.

That is how the circuit court proceeded in this case. The basic fact is that Cacie and Keaton oppose Jill's request for visitation. The presumed fact is that visitation is not in Ann's best interest. Jill produced evidence that visitation serves Ann's best interest—evidence rebutting the presumption. Under section 903.01, the circuit court properly engaged in "its own assessment of the best interest of [Ann]." *Roger D.H.*, 2002 WI App 35, ¶19; *Nicholas L.*, 2007 WI App 37, ¶12. Applying the standard of proof required by settled law, it concluded that the evidence rebutted the presumed fact. (R.87 at 123:17-20; R.88 at 16:3-17:25)

C. The application of settled Wisconsin law on presumptions in the grandparent-visitation context meets constitutional requirements.

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